THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Bentley D. Price, Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No. 2020-CP-10-01205  
Appellate Case No. 2020-001117

---

**RECEIVED**

**Jan 29 2021**

**SC Court of Appeals**

Teresa Dalton, as Personal Representative of the  
Estate of Ethel Ruckart, ..... Respondent,

v.

Mount Pleasant Manor, LLC, and  
Bruce White, ..... Appellants.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS MOUNT PLEASANT MANOR, LLC  
AND BRUCE WHITE**

---

W. McElhaney White  
Holcombe Bomar, P.A.  
P.O. Drawer 1897  
Spartanburg, SC 29304  
(864) 594-5300  
mwhite@holcombebomar.com

Attorneys for Appellants

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Whether the trial court erred in failing to order arbitration because Ethel Ruckart's daughter did, in fact, have authority to sign an admission agreement and arbitration agreement pursuant to Ethel Ruckart's Health Care Power of Attorney.
- II. Whether the trial court erred in failing to order arbitration because Respondent is estopped from denying the existence of an enforceable Admission Agreement and incorporated Arbitration Agreement while Respondent simultaneously asserts claims founded in the duties arising out of other sections of the Admission Agreement.
- III. Whether the trial court erred in failing to order arbitration because Ethel Ruckart was the intended and direct beneficiary of the Admission Agreement into which the Arbitration Agreement was merged.
- IV. Whether the trial court erred in failing to order arbitration because Bruce White was entitled to compel arbitration as a non-signatory to the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement.
- V. Whether the trial court erred in failing to order arbitration pursuant to the Federal Arbitration Act because Ethel Ruckart's daughter had authority to enter into the Admission Agreement and Arbitration Agreement and the Respondent's claims fall within the scope of the arbitration provision contained therein.
- VI. Whether the trial court erred in failing to stay the judicial proceedings because the Federal Arbitration Act mandates that judicial proceedings be stayed pending completion of arbitration.
- VII. Whether the trial court erred in failing to grant a protective order denying Respondent the right to serve discovery requests pursuant to the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure which are improper in arbitration.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 4, 2020, Teresa Dalton as Personal Representative of the Estate of Ethel Ruckart (“Respondent”) filed a Summons and Complaint against Mount Pleasant Manor, LLC (“Mount Pleasant Manor”) and Bruce White (“Mr. White”) (collectively, “Appellants”). [R. pp. 11 - 31.] Respondent alleged Appellants provided nursing home care to Ethel Ruckart (“Ms. Ruckart”) which fell below the standard of care in 2018. Appellants timely answered on April 1, 2020, denying liability. [R. pp. 32 – 37.]

On May 1, 2020, Appellants filed a Notice of and Motion to Stay Action and Compel Arbitration and Motion for a Protective Order (“Motion”). [R. pp. 38 – 55.] The Motion was based on the terms and provisions of the arbitration clause found in the Arbitration Agreement. [R. pp. 40 – 41.]

On May 12, 2020 Appellants prepared and filed a detailed memorandum of law addressing the Motion (“Memo in Support”). [R. pp. 88 – 204.] On June 19, 2020, Respondent prepared and filed a memorandum in opposition to the Motion (“Memo in Opposition”). [R. pp. 205 – 243.] Then, on June 24, 2020, Appellants prepared and filed a memorandum in response to Respondent’s Memo in Opposition. [R. pp. 244 – 247.] Appellants and Respondent consented to the court deciding the Motion on the briefs and without the necessity of a hearing in light of the issues surrounding COVID-19<sup>2</sup>.

On July 6, 2020, The Honorable Bentley D. Price (the “trial court”) issued a Form 4 Order denying the Motion without reciting findings of fact or conclusions of law. [R. pp. 2 – 4.] On July 8, 2020, Appellants prepared and filed a Notice to Alter or Amend asking the trial court to

---

<sup>2</sup> Thus, there is no hearing transcript in connection with this appeal.

reconsider its rulings, and to issue an order with findings of fact and conclusions of law. [R. pp. 248-250.]

On July 16, 2020, the trial court issued a Form 4 Order denying Appellants' Motion to Alter or Amend, again without reciting findings of fact or conclusions of law. [R. pp. 5 – 7.] Then, on July 20, 2020, the trial court issued a third Form 4 Order. This Order denied the Motion to Alter or Amend on the basis that “an arbitration agreement is a legal contractual agreement between two parties and signed by both parties who have the express legal authority to do so, and that does not exist in this case”. [R. pp. 8 – 10.]

Appellants served Respondent with their Notice of Appeal on August 10, 2020, and Appellants filed their Notice of Appeal on August 11, 2020. [R. pp. 251 – 263.]

#### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

Mount Pleasant Manor was the licensed operator of the Mount Pleasant Manor nursing home during Ms. Ruckart's residency. [R. p. 123, ¶ 2.] Ms. Ruckart was admitted to Mount Pleasant Manor on February 1, 2018. Ms. Ruckart, through her daughter and power of attorney, Teresa Dalton (“Ms. Dalton”), entered into an Admission Agreement and an Arbitration Agreement. [R. pp. 107 – 122.]

The Arbitration Agreement provided:

Any action, dispute, claim or controversy of any kind except for an action to collect a debt owed under this Agreement (tort, contract, equitable or statutory, including but not limited to claims of violations of Resident's Rights) now existing or hereafter arising between the parties, in anyway arising from or relating to the Admission Agreement governing the Resident's stay at the Facility, shall be resolved by binding arbitration. Such binding arbitration shall be governed by the provisions of the state Arbitration Code. As appropriate and in the event that the Arbitration Code is deemed to not apply, binding arbitration shall be governed by the Federal Arbitration Act. Notwithstanding anything in this Arbitration Agreement to the contrary, the arbitration will be conducted by a neutral arbitrator in a location convenient to both parties.

Pursuant to the foregoing, Resident or Resident Representative hereby knowingly, voluntarily, and intentionally waives the right to trial by jury with respect to any claim, including any counterclaim, which Resident or Resident Representative may assert, arising from or relating to the Admission Agreement or any of the said documents or any relationship between the Facility and Resident, including the Resident's admission itself, or any other course of conduct, course of dealing statements (whether verbal or written) or actions of the Facility or Resident. Resident or Resident Representative represents and warrants that the waiver contained in this paragraph has been freely and voluntarily made after reviewing the same, or having had an opportunity to review the same, with counsel of Resident or Resident Representative's choice.

**The Resident or Resident Representative acknowledges that this Arbitration Agreement is optional and the Resident's admission, readmission, or the continuation of his or her residence at the Facility is in no way conditioned upon entering into this Arbitration Agreement. Nothing in this Arbitration Agreement prohibits or discourages Resident or Resident Representative from communicating with any state, federal or local health-care or health-care related officials including the state Long Term Care Ombudsman. The Resident or Resident Representative acknowledges that this Arbitration Agreement has been explained to Resident or Resident Representative. (emphasis in original).**

[R. p. 121.]

Brooke Gabellieri, as Admissions Director of Mount Pleasant Manor, executed the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement on behalf of Mount Pleasant Manor. She met with Ms. Dalton and explained the admission process, the admission paperwork, and oversaw the execution of the admission paperwork. She would also have answered any questions Ms. Dalton had. [R. pp. 160 – 161, ¶¶ 2 – 4.]

As part of the admission, Ms. Dalton also executed the Admission Agreement. [R. p. 120.]. Section 22(e) of the Admission Agreement incorporated and merged the Arbitration Agreement with and into the Admission Agreement. It provides in part:

Entire Agreement. This Agreement and the attachments included in the Packet as listed in the Table of Contents constitute the Agreement and set forth the entire understanding of the parties relating to the subject matter hereof, and supersedes all prior agreements, understanding, and discussions relative to such subject matter. [R. p. 118.]

The “Packet” identified in that section refers to the Admission Packet Checklist. The Admission Packet Checklist indicates the Arbitration Agreement is part of the Admission Agreement. [R. p. 191.]

Pursuant to the Arbitration Agreement, the parties agreed to arbitrate any disputes arising out of Ms. Ruckart’s care and treatment at Mount Pleasant Manor. [R. pp. 121 – 122.]

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

“The question of the arbitrability of a claim is an issue for judicial determination, unless the parties provide otherwise.” Zabinski v. Bright Acres Assocs., 346 S.C. 580, 596, 553 S.E.2d 110, 118 (2001) (internal citations omitted). “Determinations of arbitrability are subject to de novo review, but if any evidence reasonably supports the circuit court’s factual findings, [the appellate] court will not overrule those findings.” Pearson v. Hilton Head Hosp., 400 S.C. 281, 286, 733 S.E.2d 597, 599 (Ct.App.2012). Because federal and state policy favor arbitrating disputes, all doubts regarding the scope of an arbitration clause must be resolved in favor of arbitration. Carolina Care Plan, Inc. v. United HealthCare Servs., Inc., 361 S.C. 544, 550, 606 S.E.2d 752, 755 (2004).

### **ARGUMENT**

I. **The trial court must be overturned because Ms. Dalton had capacity to enter into the Arbitration Agreement and Admission Agreement pursuant to Ms. Ruckart’s Health Care Power of Attorney.**

The trial court’s July 20, 2020 stated “The Motion to Reconsider to compel arbitration is denied for the following reasons: [a]n arbitration agreement is a legal contractual agreement between two parties and signed by both parties who have the express legal authority to do so, and that does not exist in this case”. Appellants do not believe the trial court was questioning Mount Pleasant Manor’s legal authority to enter into the Arbitration Agreement. Brooke Gabellieri, as

Admissions Director of Mount Pleasant Manor, executed the Arbitration Agreement on behalf of Mount Pleasant Manor, and she was authorized to do so in her capacity. [R. p. 126, ¶ 14; R. pp. 160 – 161, ¶ 4.] Furthermore, Respondent did not argue to the trial court that Brooke Gabellieri did not have such authority. [R. pp. 205 – 243.] Thus, in the unlikely event that the trial court meant to suggest that Mount Pleasant Manor did not have legal authority to enter into the Arbitration Agreement through its Admissions Director Brooke Gabellieri, this was error.

Instead, in light of the arguments made to the trial court, the trial court’s focus appears to be on the authority of Ms. Dalton to sign the Arbitration on Ms. Ruckart’s behalf. By finding she did not have this authority, the trial court committed error.

On September 25, 2013, Ms. Ruckart executed a Health Care Power of Attorney and Advance Directive Regarding a Natural Death (“HCPOA”) naming Ms. Dalton as her power of attorney. [R. pp. 192 - 198.] In section 2 of that document, it states in part “[a]bsent revocation, the authority granted in this document shall become effective when and if my attending physician(s) determines that I lack capacity to make or communicate decisions relating to my health care and will continue in effect during that incapacity, or until my death...”. [R. p. 192.]

Ms. Ruckart carried a diagnosis of dementia at the time of her admission to Mount Pleasant Manor. This was reflected in her chart from South Island Assisted Living months prior to her admission to Mount Pleasant Manor. [R. p. 199.] Furthermore, John Kleckley, MD, her attending physician at Mount Pleasant Manor, noted she lacked the capacity to make her own medical decisions. [R. pp. 203 - 204.]

Under Section 4 of the HCPOA, Ms. Ruckart granted Ms. Dalton the power and authority to:

C. Consent to and authorize my admission to and discharge from a hospital, nursing or convalescent home, hospice, long-term care facility or other health care facility.

H. Take any lawful actions that may be necessary to carry out these decisions, including but not limited to: (i) signing, executing, delivering and acknowledging any agreement, release, authorization or other document that may be necessary, desirable, convenient or proper in order to exercise and carry out any of these powers...(emphasis added)

In Section 7(B), the HCPOA provides:

The powers conferred on my health care agent by this document may be exercised by my health care agent alone, and my health care agent's signature or action taken under the authority granted in this document may be accepted by persons as fully authorized by me and with the same force and effect as if I were personally present, competent and acting on my own behalf. All acts performed in good faith by my health care agent pursuant to this document are done with my consent and shall have the same validity and effect as if I were present and exercised the powers myself and shall inure to the benefit of and bind me, my estate, my heirs, successors, assigns and personal representatives. The authority of my health care agent pursuant to this document shall be superior to and binding upon my family, relatives, friends and others.

[R. pp. 193, 196 – 197.]

In Section 8(B), it notes that the HCPOA “shall not be affected or revoked by my incapacity or mental incompetence”. [R. p. 197.]

As noted in Section 4 of the HCPOA, Ms. Dalton was authorized to execute and deliver any agreement or other document in connection with Ms. Ruckart's admission to a nursing home or long-term care facility. [R. p. 193.] These provisions of the HCPOA, as well as others, clearly authorized Ms. Dalton to execute the Admission Agreement, Arbitration Agreement, and other admission documents on Ms. Ruckart's behalf. In fact, Ms. Dalton correctly noted that she had this power on the signature page to the Admission Agreement in which it states, “Resident Representative is acting as: Power of Attorney”. [R. p. 120.]

The HCPOA was broad enough to authorize Ms. Dalton to waive Mr. Ruckart's access to the courts and a jury trial, and to commit her to arbitrate any disputes. Not only does the plain language of the HCPOA support this notion, but the case law in our State does as well.

In the case of Hodge v. UniHealth Post-Acute Care of Bamberg, LLC et al., 422 S.C 544, 813 S.E.2d 292 (Ct.App.2018), Mable Hodge ("wife") entered the defendants' rehabilitation facility after being hospitalized for heart and kidney problems. Her husband, Camille Hodge ("husband"), executed some of the admission documents, including an admission agreement and arbitration agreement. Wife was still in the hospital when these agreements were executed by husband, and she was competent. The Court of Appeals noted "[s]he had no health care power of attorney at that time". Id. at 550, 813 S.E.2d at 296.

Shortly after her admission, wife developed health concerns which ultimately rendered her paralyzed from the waist down. She later died. Husband and their son filed suit, and the defendants moved to compel arbitration. The circuit court denied the motion, and in listing the facts supporting the court's ruling, the circuit court included a finding that wife had not executed a general power of attorney or health care power of attorney (or any other document giving husband or other family members the authority to make contractual commitments or waivers on her behalf) at the time wife was admitted to the defendants' facility or when husband signed the arbitration agreement. (emphasis added). Id. at 553-554, 813 S.E.2d at 297.

The Hodge court also discussed the unpublished opinion in Scott v. Heritage Healthcare of Estill, LLC, Op. No. 2014-UP-317, 2014 WL 3845113 (S.C. Ct. App. Filed Aug. 6, 2014)<sup>3</sup>. The court noted that the personal representative of the estate of a patient who died at a facility brought suit, and in response, the defendants moved to compel arbitration. In denying the motion (which

---

<sup>3</sup> This unpublished opinion is addressed herein only because it was specifically addressed in the Hodge opinion.

was upheld on appeal), the circuit court in Scott noted that the sister who signed the arbitration agreement did not possess a health care power of attorney to sign the contract on her behalf and the arbitration agreement was found to be unenforceable. Id. at 554-556, 813 S.E.2d at 298.

Ultimately, the Court of Appeals agreed with the trial court and agreed that the circuit court did not err in finding the husband was not the wife's agent. It so holding, it noted wife was competent at the time the arbitration agreement was signed and she did not represent to the facility that her husband was her agent, and husband did not have wife's health care power of attorney. (emphasis added). Id. at 573-574, 813 S.E.2d at 308.

Our Supreme Court, in Dean v. Heritage Healthcare of Ridgeway, LLC et al., 408 S.C. 371, 759 S.E.2d 727 (2014), also addressed a health care power of attorney in the arbitration context. Darlene Dean ("Dean") executed a nursing home residency agreement and a separate arbitration agreement at the time of her mother's admission to the facility. The court noted in a footnote that Dean "did not have a health care power of attorney empowering her to sign on the patient's behalf". Id. at 376, 389, 759 S.E.2d at 730, 737.

The court dealt with several arguments on the enforceability of the arbitration agreement, but it did not reach the issue of whether Dean had authority to sign the arbitration agreement. The court, again in a footnote, wrote "[w]e are concerned that, according to the Record, the patient did not sign either the residency agreement or the [arbitration] Agreement on her own behalf, despite being competent at the time, nor did [Dean] possess a health care power of attorney to sign either contract on the patient's behalf". Id. at 387-389, 759 S.E.2d 736 – 737.

More recently, our Court of Appeals dealt with this issue in Stott v. White Oak Manor, Inc. et al., 426 S.C. 568, 828 S.E.2d 82 (Ct.App.2019). Jolly Davis ("Davis") was admitted to White Oak Manor for rehabilitation and possibly long-term care on January 2, 2013. The same day, Hilda

Stott ("Stott"), acting as Davis's authorized representative, signed White Oak's admission documents, including an arbitration agreement. Id. at 571-572, 828 S.E.2d at 84.

The initial evaluation of Davis found that he was alert and oriented. Over the next few weeks after admission he was transferred back and forth to the hospital before dying on January 16, 2013. Stott filed wrongful death and survival actions against White Oak Manor alleging improper care, and White Oak filed a motion to compel arbitration based upon the arbitration agreement signed at admission. Id. at 571-572, 828 S.E.2d at 84.

Stott held Davis's durable power of attorney for finance and a separate health care power of attorney. The court, in denying White Oak Manor's motion to compel arbitration, found (1) Davis was competent to sign the arbitration agreement at the time of his admission, (2) the durable power of attorney was not effective at the time of admission because it had not been recorded as required by law, and (3) the health care power of attorney did not authorize Stott to enter into the arbitration agreement because Davis was competent when the arbitration agreement was signed. Id. at 571-572, 828 S.E.2d at 84-85.

The Court of Appeals affirmed the circuit court's order. In so doing, it first found Stott did not have authority to sign the arbitration agreement under the durable power of attorney for finance. It noted a durable power of attorney for finance in South Carolina must be recorded in order to be effective. The durable power of attorney for finance from Davis to Stott was not recorded at the time the arbitration agreement was executed, and thus the court found this power of attorney was not effective to authorize Stott's execution of the arbitration agreement on Davis's behalf. Id. at 572-575, 828 S.E.2d at 85-86.

The court then turned to the health care power of attorney. The health care power of attorney, by its terms, was only effective upon Davis's mental incompetence. During the hearing

on the motion to compel arbitration, White Oak Manor conceded that it did not question Davis's mental competence. The court noted this was consistent with the medical records which found him to be alert and oriented to time, place, and situation. *Id.* at 576-578, 828 S.E.2d at 87-88.

The court then held "[b]ecause we find [Davis] was mentally competent to sign the Arbitration Agreement, we affirm the circuit court's decision that Stott did not have authority under her durable health care power of attorney to sign the Arbitration Agreement". *Id.* at 578, 828 S.E.2d at 88.

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