RECEIVED

Jan 29 2021

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Bentley D. Price, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2020-001117

Teresa Dalton, as Personal Representative
of the Estate of Ethel Ruckart,

Respondent

v.

Mount Pleasant Manor, LLC and,
Bruce White,

Appellants.

RESPONDENT'S FINAL BRIEF

D. Nathan Hughey
A. Stuart Hudson
Bradley H. Banyas
Hughey Law Firm, LLC
Post Office Box 348
Mount Pleasant, SC 29465

Jordan C. Calloway
McGowan, Hood & Felder, LLC
1539 Health Care Drive
Rock Hill, SC 29732
(803) 327-7800
jcalloway@mcgowanhood.com

Attorneys for Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

As the circuit court stated, Appellants' motions presented a contract formation question. (R. p. 8). The parties agree Mother did not sign the Arbitration Agreement but dispute whether

Daughter's signature is the equivalent of Mother's consent so as to require arbitration for claims arising from Mother's injuries. The only authority Daughter possessed was pursuant to the HCPOA, a limited instrument that did not empower Daughter to waive Mother's right to a jury trial. Appellants' alternative argument that Mother's admission itself estops her from contesting arbitration assumes a merger of the Arbitration Agreement and Admission Agreement that South Carolina precedent has rejected multiple times in similar cases. Appellants also overlook important precedent from earlier this year holding that a nursing home resident's family pursuing negligence claims is not the type of conduct that supports estoppel even when arbitration and admission are covered by the same contract. In short, while the FAA favors arbitration, it does not displace South Carolina's contract formation requirements, and the circuit court correctly held Appellants have failed to prove a valid arbitration contract.

1. Mother's Health Care Power of Attorney Did Not Authorize Daughter to Execute the Arbitration Agreement.

Appellants contend Daughter was expressly authorized to act as Mother's agent when signing the Arbitration Agreement. (Appellants' Br. at 6-12). However, the instrument Appellants cite for this alleged authority—the HCPOA—designates Daughter only as “health care agent” and constrains her authority to “health care decisions.” (R. p. 77). The circuit court correctly determined the HCPOA's language does not extend Daughter's authority to an arbitration contract that concerns only future dispute resolution procedures, not any medical or nursing services Appellants offered. Moreover, South Carolina statutes and precedent hold that the term “health care” cannot be stretched so far as to include the Arbitration Agreement.

a. The HCPOA's Language Limits its Scope to “Health Care” Decisions.

The HCPOA's language expressly states Daughter's limited authority and did not grant her power to sign the Arbitration Agreement on Mother's behalf. Under South Carolina law, an action

to interpret a power of attorney is similar to a contract interpretation action. Watson v. Underwood, 407 S.C. 443, 454, 756 S.E.2d 155, 161 (Ct. App. 2014). Accordingly, contract interpretation principles apply to determine the HCPOA’s scope. Stott v. White Oak Manor, Inc., 426 S.C. 568, 577, 828 S.E.2d 82, 87 (Ct. App. 2019) (citing In re Thames, 344 S.C. 564, 571, 544 S.E.2d 854, 857 (Ct. App. 2001)). Contracts (and powers of attorney) must be interpreted to carry out their parties’ intent as determined primarily by the language they chose in the document itself. A court may not read terms into a contract or power of attorney or infer the parties intended a meaning inconsistent with the language they expressed. Radalytic Labs, Inc. v. Culver, 329 S.C. 380, 383, 495 S.E.2d 782, 784 (1997) (citing Blakeley v. Rabon, 266 S.C. 68, 72, 221 S.E.2d 767, 769 (1976)).

Starting with its title, the HCPOA defines its limited scope. Mother chose to create only a “health care” power of attorney with a specific eye toward her preferences on life-sustaining end-of-life medical treatments (“Advance Directive Regarding a Natural Death”). (R. p. 77). Daughter was appointed not as Mother’s general financial or legal representative but only as a “health care agent . . . to make health care decisions.” Id. Later, the HCPOA enumerated Daughter’s specific powers but only after reiterating that all such powers must be interpreted as limited to “decisions . . . regarding . . . health care.” (R. p. 78 ¶ 4(H)). As Appellants note, Daughter was empowered to admit and withdraw Mother from locations like the Facility offering medical and nursing services. Appellants’ Br. at 7 (quoting R. p. 78 § 4(C)). However, that section could not have included authority to execute the Arbitration Agreement because it expressly unlinks Mother’s admission from the Arbitration Agreement. (R. p. 60) (“this Arbitration Agreement is optional and the Resident’s admission, readmission or the continuation of his or her residence at the Facility *is in no way conditioned upon entering into this Arbitration Agreement*”) (emphasis added).

Appellants' reliance on HCPOA section 4(H) is also misplaced as that section granted Daughter only the authority to take actions "necessary to carry out" her enumerated powers including the power to admit Mother to the Facility. The Arbitration Agreement language quoted above shows that executing the Arbitration Agreement could never be "necessary" for Mother to gain admission to the Facility. The remainder of section 4(H) must be construed in light of this overarching limitation on Daughter's authority. Reading this section to authorize execution of the voluntary, optional Arbitration Agreement would also be inconsistent with the section's final provision. While Daughter had limited power to take actions "necessary" to "health care" decisions, the HCPOA "shall not give [Daughter] general authority over [Mother's] property or financial affairs." Since the Arbitration Agreement is unlinked from admission to the Facility and instead affects the forum, procedures, and potential value for Mother's personal injury claim, executing the Arbitration Agreement is a "financial" and "property"-related matter rather than a "health care" decision.

b. South Carolina Courts Define "Health Care" to Exclude Execution of an Optional Arbitration Contract.

South Carolina appellate courts have also held that "health care" decisions do not encompass arbitration contracts. In Coleman v. Mariner Health Care, Inc., the South Carolina Supreme Court was tasked with determining whether committing a loved one to arbitration was a "health care" decision. 407 S.C. 346, 755 S.E.2d 450 (2014). Coleman considered this key term as it was defined in South Carolina's Adult Health Care Consent Act ("the Act"), holding that the statutory definition of "health care" includes medical procedures, nursing care, placement in a nursing home, and agreeing to pay for nursing home services. Id. at 352, 755 S.E.2d at 453. However, a separate arbitration contract—like the Arbitration Agreement Daughter signed—was not a "health care" matter because it was (1) not required for the resident's admission to the nursing

home; (2) contained no provisions for medical or nursing services; and (3) did not require any financial commitment for medical or nursing services. Id. at 353, 755 S.E.2d at 454. Coleman is directly on point here because, while it construed the term “health care” in the context of the Act, the statute governing health care powers of attorney instructs courts to apply the Act’s terms to documents like the HCPOA. S.C. Code Ann. § 62-5-502(c) (stating that generally the Act’s provisions “apply to the making of decisions by a health care agent”).

Appellants overlook Coleman and instead argue other precedent supports their claim that a health care power of attorney can extend to an optional arbitration contract signed by a nursing home resident’s family member. Appellants’ Br. at 8-11 (citing Stott and Hodge v. UniHealth Post-Acute Care of Bamberg, LLC, 422 S.C. 544, 813 S.E.2d 292 (Ct. App. 2018)). But, Hodge actually held the opposite:

Even whe[n] a health care power of attorney was present, courts have concluded that the [signatory relative] lacked authority to sign the arbitration agreement . . . because a health care power of attorney granted for medical decisions does not confer authority to sign an arbitration agreement waiving legal rights.

422 S.C. at 569-70, 813 S.E.2d at 306 (citing Curto v. Illini Manors, Inc., 940 N.E.2d 229, 233 (Ill. App. 2010)).

Plus, Stott neither holds nor implies that a health care power of attorney covers an optional arbitration contract. 426 S.C. at 576, 577, 828 S.E.2d at 86 (citing 12 S.C. Jur. *Death and Right to Die* § 14 (2019) and S.C. Code Ann. § 62-5-504(B)(1) (defining “health care power of attorney” as “an instrument in which an individual known as the principal authorizes another person known as the attorney-in-fact, or agent, to make health care decisions on his behalf”). Stott affirmed the denial of a motion to compel arbitration, finding a durable financial power of attorney was invalid because it had not been recorded as required by statute and a health care power of attorney was inoperable because the nursing home resident was competent when admitted to the nursing home.

426 S.C. at 573-78, 828 S.E.2d at 85-88. Appellants suggest Stott implies health care powers of attorney may be used to execute an optional arbitration contract when the resident is incompetent (Appellants' Br. at 11), but Stott says no such thing. Reaching that conclusion would have required the Court to grapple with Coleman's contrary language cited above. It also would have been unnecessary to its holding. Thus, Appellant's Stott argument is based on even less than dicta. Appellants err in asking the Court to draw an inference from what Stott does not say on an issue it was not asked to address to reach a conclusion at odds with Coleman. In total, South Carolina appellate courts have consistently held that signing a voluntary arbitration contract near the time of a nursing home resident's admission is not a "health care" decision and is not encompassed by a health care power of attorney.

c. Persuasive Authority Supports the Circuit Court's Ruling.

A number of other jurisdictions have also refused to extend the notion of "health care" to arbitration contracts and have held a health care power of attorney does not authorize an agent to enter an arbitration agreement on a nursing home resident's behalf. Several of these courts have expressly held that by its nature agreeing to arbitrate cannot reasonable be considered a "health care" decision. See e.g. Manor Oaks, Inc. v. Campbell, 276 So.3d 830, 834 (Fla. App. 2019) (citing Blankfeld v. Richmond Health Care, Inc., 902 So.2d 296, 300 (Fla. App. 2005) ("waiving the right to sue for damages in the courts for violations of [state nursing home statute] or common law negligence is not a health care decision"); Cook v. GGNSC Ripley, LLC, 786 F. Supp. 3d 1166, 1170 (N.D. Miss. 2011) (holding that "since the arbitration agreement was not a health care decision," the agent "did not have the authority to bind [the resident] to arbitration"); Texas Cityview Care Ctr., L.P. v. Fryer, 227 S.W.3d 345, 352 (Tex. App. 2007) (finding arbitration contract was a "legal, as opposed to health care decision[]").

Even when a health care power of attorney contains a broad grant of power to the listed agent, many courts have held that authority cannot be stretched so far as to cover an arbitration contract. For these courts, the key factor was the disconnect between admission and arbitration. See e.g., Fiala v. Bickford Sr. Living Group, LLC, 32 N.E.3d 80, 92 (Ill. App. 2015) (“where the arbitration provision is optional or otherwise not necessary to gain admission to a long-term care facility, the agent acting pursuant to a health-care power of attorney is not authorized to sign the arbitration provision”); Testa v. Emeritus Corp., 168 F. Supp. 3d 1103 (N.D. Ill. 2016) (applying Fiala rule); Life Care Ctrs. of Am. v. Smith, 681 S.E.2d 182, 185-86 (Ga. App. 2009). In other words, even if admitting a resident to a nursing home is a “health care” decision, agreeing to arbitration cannot be where the arbitration contract expressly states that it is not required for admission. Primmer v. Healthcare Indus. Corp., 43 N.E.3d 788, 795 (Ohio App. 2015) (“The decision to sign a free-standing arbitration agreement is not a health care decision if the patient may receive health care without signing the arbitration agreement”); State ex rel. AMFM, LLC v. King, 740 S.E.2d 66, 75 (W. Va. 2013); see also Morton v. Grace Health & Rehab. of Grenada, LLC, Civil Action No. 4:14-cv-00169-GHD-JMV, 2015 WL 2163827 (N.D. Miss. May 7, 2015). On its face, the Arbitration Agreement Daughter signed states that it is not required for admission. (R. p. 60). Therefore, the circuit court followed both South Carolina and persuasive authority in finding the Arbitration Agreement’s execution was not a “health care” decision covered by the HCPOA.

This rule applies even to a health care power of attorney with language very similar to the HCPOA. In Estate of Irons v. Arcadia Healthcare, L.C., a Florida appellate court held the broad scope of the health care power of attorney before it did not extend to an arbitration contract. 66 So.3d 396 (Fla. App. 2011). The governing document was titled “Health Care Power of Attorney”

and identified the empowered family member as “health care surrogate,” which led the court to find its provisions were intended to be limited to decisions that “relate to the direct provision of medical care.” Id. at 400. An instrument that so affirmatively limits its scope to health care matters does not extend to matters of “property rights or potential litigation with” a nursing home. Id. To rule otherwise, Irons held, would strain the principal’s intent when she executed the health care power of attorney. Id. Similarly, the HCPOA was limited to “health care” decisions in its title and appointed Daughter only as “health care agent.” (R. p. 77). Reading the HCPOA to extend Daughter’s authority to the optional Arbitration Agreement would strain Mother’s intent when she executed the HCPOA and would be inconsistent with substantial South Carolina and persuasive authority.

d. As an Additional Sustaining Ground, the HCPOA is Invalid Because it was not Recorded as Required by Statute.

As an additional sustaining ground, the HCPOA did not grant Daughter authority to agree to arbitration on Mother’s behalf because the HCPOA was invalid on its face. As this Court held in Stott, a durable power of attorney is valid only after it is recorded with the register of deeds. 426 S.C. at 574, 828 S.E.2d at 86 (citing former S.C. Code Ann. § 62-5-501(C) (2013) which provided that a durable power of attorney “must be recorded in the same manner as a deed in the county where the principal resides at the time the instrument is recorded”); see also S.C. Code Ann. § 62-8-403(c) (current statute imposing same requirement)). This requirement applies to any health care power of attorney. S.C. Code Ann. § 62-5-502(a) (stating that statutory requirements for durable powers of attorney apply equally to health care powers of attorney). The same requirement applies to a durable power of attorney executed in another jurisdiction later used in South Carolina. Before it becomes effective in this state, an out-of-state durable power of attorney must be recorded in the principal’s current South Carolina county of residence. S.C. Code Ann. § 62-8-109(d) (permitting

a power of attorney executed in another jurisdiction to be recorded in South Carolina); former S.C. Code Ann. § 62-5-501(D)(2) (2013) (imposing recording requirement). Mother's HCPOA does not bear a recording stamp and was never recorded with the Charleston County Register of Deeds. Therefore, regardless of any powers it purports to grant Daughter, the HCPOA is invalid.

2. Mother's Residence in Appellants' Facility does not Estop Respondent from Opposing Arbitration.

At its core, Appellants' equitable estoppel argument is that, since Mother was admitted to the Facility and obtained nursing home services as a resident, she (through her personal representative) may not refuse to arbitrate claims based on Appellants' allegedly negligent care. South Carolina appellate courts have rejected this argument four separate times in the last seven years. These precedents establish two crucial principles. First, there is nothing inconsistent about receiving nursing home services while challenging the formation of a separate, optional arbitration contract. Second, since Respondent's claims are not grounded in or dependent on the Admission Agreement, equitable estoppel would not apply here even if the Admission Agreement and Arbitration Agreement were a single, merged contract.

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